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CHAPTER ONE



The man behind the red folder


The wooden door swings open, and an old man in a wheelchair enters the courtroom. His face is hidden behind a red cardboard folder, which he holds up with a single steady hand. For additional camouflage, he wears a pair of black sunglasses and a dark, wide-brimmed hat. All eyes in the room have turned towards him but he has no intention of returning their gaze. The old man sits in silence, flanked by his daughter and his lawyer, still hiding from the camera clicking away in front of him. As the seconds tick by, nervous anticipation fills the room.


Moments later, the judge orders the photographer and cameraman to leave, allowing the old man to lower the red folder and show his face. Sitting at the far end of the courtroom, I crane my neck to catch a first glimpse of the accused. He looks younger than his ninety-three years, alert, with dark eyes and neatly cropped white hair. In the row in front of me, an old woman starts crying, her slight frame shaking with silent sobs. The old man in the dock is her husband.


Turning to the accused, Anne Meier-Göring, the presiding judge, starts proceedings with a few simple questions.


‘Can you hear me?’


‘Yes,’ the old man says.


‘Are you Bruno Dey?’


‘Yes.’1


It is 17 October 2019, the opening day of a trial in Hamburg’s imposing criminal justice building. The trial is historic in more ways than one. Bruno Dey is accused of being involved in a crime that took place more than seven decades ago: the murder of at least 5,230 prisoners at Stutthof, a Nazi concentration camp in present-day Poland. He was only seventeen when he arrived at the camp, and became a member of the SS unit charged with guarding the site and ensuring that none of the desperate prisoners could flee. Dey has admitted that he served as a guard at Stutthof from August 1944 to April 1945, but he denies the accusation that he had any role in the murders, even as a subordinate, or accessory.


It is his name that appears on the charge sheet, but everyone in the courtroom knows that Dey will not be judged alone. As with all trials that examine the crimes of the Nazi regime, the Hamburg case raises questions – difficult, uncomfortable questions – that go far beyond the criminal culpability of any individual. They are questions that have weighed on the world since the first images of the camps and their victims emerged after the war. They cut especially deeply for Germans like myself but today seem profoundly relevant to all nations: how could this happen? Who is guilty? And what would I have done?


In many ways, Bruno Dey was the perfect foil to examine these questions. He had little in common with the Nazi leaders convicted at the Nuremberg trials or the thuggish murderers who later stood trial in German courts for their deeds at Auschwitz, Sobibor and Treblinka. He was different, too, from the sinister desk perpetrators like Adolf Eichmann, tried and hanged in Israel for his pivotal role in the planning and execution of the Holocaust. Dey was not pivotal to anything, not even at Stutthof. He was a simple guard, who looked down from his watchtower, and who in the midst of war, death and untold suffering never once saw the need to fire his gun. He was the smallest of small cogs, in a machine whose murderous intent he claims he never fully understood. That claim would face intense scrutiny over the course of the trial but no one ever doubted that the defendant occupied one of the lowest rungs of the camp hierarchy.


As I sat and listened to the opening exchanges, I found myself transfixed. I realised that it was precisely Dey’s historical insignificance that interested and unsettled me. Like most sane human beings, I could not imagine myself as a murderer, or the commandant of a concentration camp or a senior officer in an organisation of brutes like the SS. Surely, even in a dictatorship, in a time of war, my moral compass would not have failed me so badly. When we look at black-and-white images of the defendants at Nuremberg we feel revulsion, but we also feel the consolation of distance. We can tell ourselves with confidence that we would never have acted like them. On this October morning in Hamburg, however, as I looked across the courtroom at the impassive figure of Dey, I was not sure I could say the same thing about him. Would I, as a seventeen year old in Nazi Germany, have acted differently? Would I have had the moral courage to climb down from that watchtower, hand over my rifle and say: ‘No more’? And if I could not be sure, could anyone in this courtroom? Would the black-robed lawyers who represented Stutthof survivors have said ‘No’? Would the calm, confident figure of Meier-Göring, the presiding judge, have said ‘No’? And if she could not be sure, could the court still convict?


I had come to Hamburg to file a short story on the opening of the trial for my newspaper, but I resolved to return to the hearings as often as I could. I wanted to see how this drama played out. I wanted to see how the court wrestled with the moral and legal dilemmas thrown up by the case, but also how Dey himself understood his role and his responsibility. Surely he sensed that for him, as for everyone else in the courtroom, this was a trial of last opportunities: a last opportunity for survivors to tell their story in a court of law, a last opportunity for an old man to confront his guilt and his conscience in front of a judge, and a last opportunity for Germany and its legal system to show that justice would be done, no matter how late.


For me, too, this was something of a last opportunity. The Holocaust had held a grip on me since my early teenage years in Germany, when I developed a sudden and deep curiosity about the Nazi period, and specifically the murder of Europe’s Jews. Aged fourteen, I joined an evening class in my hometown to study antisemitism and the origins of the Holocaust. In 1990, with the Iron Curtain only just broken, I went to southern Poland to visit Auschwitz, part of a trip organised by survivors of the camp that left an indelible impression. I sought out and interviewed Holocaust survivors, including in my hometown of Darmstadt, a small university town close to Frankfurt. I wrote about my experience in Auschwitz in painfully earnest prose for my school newspaper, and eventually submitted a long, handwritten piece for an essay competition organised by the Israeli Ministry of Education. I remember winning a surprisingly large amount of money, along with a heavy bronze medal adorned with Hebrew lettering and the silhouette of Jerusalem. The medal still sat on a shelf in my old bedroom back in Darmstadt, as did dozens of faded copies of the monthly newsletter issued by the Auschwitz survivors’ society, which I joined around the same time. Like most youthful obsessions, this one faded in the years that followed. I left Germany in my mid-twenties to become a journalist, returning many years later to cover my home country as a foreign correspondent.


Back in Berlin, I wrote stories about politics and business, defence policy and the environment, art, society and football – but also, every so often, about German history, and how that history wove itself into the present. And I wrote, once again, about the Holocaust, about survivors and perpetrators, and about a past that has never come to rest. I was driven by a curiosity common to all journalists in pursuit of a good story, but also by a sense of urgency. I knew that, with every month that passed, the voices of the victims and the guilty were falling silent. My German grandparents had died many years ago, and until now it had never occurred to me that I could – or should – try to find out what they knew and what they did during the war. The more I thought about this, the more striking this omission appeared. I had heard plenty of stories of their suffering at the end of the war, when my grandfather became a prisoner of war in the Soviet Union and, with the Red Army closing in on her hometown, my grandmother made a desperate escape in the depths of winter. But my understanding of what they did and didn’t do before the collapse – during those twelve terrible years of Nazi rule – was hazy at best.


For Britons and Americans, who look back at the defeat of Nazi Germany as a defining triumph in each nation’s history, such reticence must seem strange. In Germany, however, it was far from unusual – even many decades after the war. Now, the last members of the Kriegsgeneration, the war generation, were in their eighties and nineties. There were not many left who could talk, and fewer still who wanted to – especially if their memories involved wearing the uniform of the SS. But Dey would talk. He had to talk. And I wanted to hear what he had to say.


Bruno Johannes Dey was born on 28 August 1926 in Obersommerkau, a village less than 30 kilometres inland from the Hanseatic port city of Danzig. Neither place name appears on a map these days. At the time of Dey’s birth, both Obersommerkau and Danzig were part of a German enclave, bordering the Baltic Sea to the north and surrounded on land by the state of Poland. After the war, Danzig and its hinterland became Polish. The few Germans who had clung on to their homes despite the advance of Stalin’s Red Army were expelled to the West. Dey’s birthplace today goes by the name of Ząbrsko Górne, while Danzig became Gdańsk.


The basic facts of Dey’s life leading up to his day in court were described in the official indictment in sober prose that ran to barely four pages. His father was a farmer who worked the family’s 39 acres of land in an area known as the Danzig heights. A young widower, he married Dey’s mother when she was twenty-three (his first wife was her sister). The couple had seven children, though one of Dey’s sisters died at birth, and another at the age of fourteen. Five survived the war: Dey along with two sisters and two brothers. The indictment noted that the defendant started school in 1932, after Easter, as was customary in Germany at the time.


It was, even by the standards of Germany’s fraught and bloody twentieth century, a fateful year: in February, Adolf Hitler obtained German citizenship, allowing the Austrian-born leader of the National Socialists to stand as a candidate for the highest office in the land, the Reich presidency. Dey’s first year in school was spent mostly under the auspices of the Weimar Republic, Germany’s ill-fated excursion in democracy. But the menacing pull of Hitler and his Brownshirts was growing stronger with every week. In the federal elections on 31 July 1932, the National Socialists won almost 40 per cent of the vote, emerging as the largest party in the Reichstag for the first time. A second ballot was held in November, in which the fascists lost strength but managed to retain their position as the dominant force in parliament. The Weimar Republic was dead before Dey completed his first year in school: the Reichstag burned down in February 1933, followed by the first wave of repression and persecution of political opponents. The Nazis triumphed in the federal elections of March 1933, a vote scarred by repression, violence and voter intimidation, and Hitler proclaimed the Third Reich a few days later.


At about the same time, in a sleepy suburb north of Munich, an abandoned munitions factory was being readied to house political prisoners, starting with Social Democrat and Communist leaders. Formally opened on 15 March 1933, Dachau would become the first Nazi concentration camp, a place of fear, humiliation, torture and murder that remained in operation almost until the bitter end. By the time American soldiers arrived at its gates in April 1945, more than 32,000 men, women and children had met their death there.


Dey left school in 1940, aged fourteen. ‘I enjoyed the learning, but not the company of the classmates. I became a loner . . . I didn’t connect with anyone and I didn’t trust anyone,’ he would later tell the court. Dey was friendless and bullied by his classmates, who beat him and stole the apples he used to take to school for his lunch breaks. Instead of supporting him, his parents blamed Dey for getting into trouble. As soon as he arrived home he would be put to work on the farm, fetching the cows to be milked, picking up stones from the field, weeding, planting potatoes. ‘Was there anything positive you remember from your childhood, something you thought was especially nice?’ the judge would ask him in one of the later trial hearings. ‘Nice? Was there anything nice?’ Dey responded. ‘There wasn’t much that was nice.’


His school years came to an end just as the Wehrmacht prepared its lightning strike on France. Poland – the country that once surrounded his home region – had been conquered and dismembered the previous year, and subjected to brutal occupation by Nazi Germany in the west and Stalin’s Soviet Union in the east. Too young to join the fighting, Dey embarked on a two-year apprenticeship as a baker, as safe and as peaceful a profession as one might imagine, under the circumstances. He had dreamt of a career driving or working with motorcars, but his father dispatched him to the bakery regardless. By his own account, he had already learnt the importance of keeping his head down, and the risks of taking a ­political stand. Dey’s father was a member of the Zentrumspartei, a conservative political movement closely aligned with the Roman Catholic Church. The Zentrum’s deputies had backed Hitler’s claim for sweeping extra-legal powers in 1933, but the party was disbanded and its politicians persecuted all the same. Dey’s father, too, suffered harassment, after he was heard making critical remarks over the handling of the war. As Dey recalled, his father was warned he could end up in Stutthof, the nearby concentration camp that would become so familiar to his son a few years later. Dey himself initially resisted joining the Hitler Youth, despite pressure from his schoolmates, but ultimately signed up. He claimed he only ever attended a couple of the group’s meetings. His excuse was that, as a baker’s apprentice, he got up too early to take part in Hitlerjugend activities.
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‘For more than seventy years, no one in Germany was interested in a simple guard.’ Bruno Dey in court.


In 1943, with the tide of war already turned and the mass killing of Jews and other enemies of the Reich already well under way, Dey underwent his Musterung, the official medical inspection prior to commencing military service. The doctors found a heart problem that meant he was certified to do duty only inside barracks, but not on the front line – a medical assessment that would emerge as a significant theme of the trial. Despite the increasingly dire need for new soldiers, his military service was deferred by a year. Sometime around Easter 1944, Dey was finally called up to join the Wehrmacht, and was posted to an infantry battalion in nearby Stettin (now Szczecin). In early June, still only seventeen, he was sent to Stutthof for the first time, to perform guard duties along with other soldiers from his battalion. Dey fell sick with diphtheria, forcing him to spend some time in a hospital in Danzig, but he returned to Stutthof in early August, when he was formally inducted into the first company of the SS-Totenkopfsturmbann Stutthof, one of the notorious ‘skull’ units of the SS. Named after the skull-and-crossbones insignia on their uniform, the members of this unit were responsible for guarding the Nazi concentration camps. This was the beginning of his eight-month tour of guard duty at the concentration camp – a fraction of his lifetime, but the only period of interest to the judges in Hamburg. Dey insisted that he never volunteered to join the SS, or indeed to serve at Stutthof. The idea that there might be some alternative course of action – for example volunteering to serve on the Eastern Front – never crossed his mind.


In January 1945, with the Red Army closing in on Danzig, the SS decided to abandon Stutthof, but the evacuation of personnel and prisoners dragged on until April. Thousands of inmates lost their lives on death marches west. Dey himself left the camp in April 1945, making his way to Schleswig–Holstein, the northern German region bordering Denmark, where he was taken prisoner first by the Americans and later by British authorities. Released in December 1945, he initially worked as a baker and farmer in return for food and a roof over his head. The indictment noted that Dey met his future wife – the white-haired woman now sobbing in front of me inside the courtroom – in October 1952. The two became engaged just two months later, on Christmas Eve. He went on to work as a lorry driver, a janitor and a shipping clerk, built a house on the outskirts of Hamburg, and retired in 1988. He had two daughters, four grandchildren and four great-grandchildren. The indictment added just one more line to his personal details: ‘He has no criminal record, nor has he ever come into conflict with the law.’


Over the course of the next nine months, the defendant would take his seat inside courtroom 200 after the inevitable opening ritual. Each day of the trial, Dey would enter the court together with his lawyer and daughter, shielding his face from the pho­tographer and cameraman during the first minutes.2 As soon as they left, he would lower the cardboard file and wait for the judge to start proceedings. Anne Meier-Göring sat to his left, on an elevated wooden podium, flanked by two junior judges and two lay judges. Across from him stood the desk occupied by the chief prosecutor Lars Mahnke and a colleague. To his right, facing the judge, sat the lawyers representing survivors of Stutthof and their descendants, several dozen of whom had been granted admission to the trial as so-called ‘private accessory prosecutors’, or co-plaintiffs. This meant they had the right to question witnesses and plead in court along with the state prosecutor. Sitting behind them was Dey’s family, and, further back still, journalists and spectators. It was, even by the standards of a big-city murder trial, a large crowd. Dey’s white-haired wife was in court on most days, usually accompanied by other members of the family, including his grandchildren. They did not speak to any of the journalists, but the message they sent was clear: they were present to show their support for the defendant, and to ensure he did not feel alone. None did so with more commitment than his daughter, who sat by his side at the front of the courtroom every day, often dressed in a matching blouse and headscarf (she had married a Muslim and followed the Islamic dress code). Dey’s lawyer told me later that she had worked hard to support the defence; she studied the case files in depth, and read legal textbooks to prepare herself for the hearings. In court, she watched over her father with a perpetual look of pity and concern.


The courtroom itself exuded a sense of late-nineteenth-century grandeur, with slender Corinthian pillars protruding from the walls and a richly stuccoed coffered ceiling above. A bank of large windows overlooking the square below flooded the room with light, even on grey winter mornings. It was the largest and most ornate in Hamburg’s criminal justice building.


These surroundings would become deeply familiar to Dey, as would the key protagonists who shared this stage with him. The most important was Meier-Göring, the presiding judge. It was largely coincidence that had put her in charge of this historic trial: because Dey was only seventeen or eighteen at the time of the alleged crime, by law he had to be treated as a juvenile offender, despite his advanced age at the time of the trial. As the presiding judge of one of three divisions dedicated to youth criminals, it had simply been Meier-Göring’s turn to take on his case. However, she had been keen to do so, she later told me. Born in 1968, she had, like most Germans of her generation, been fascinated and troubled by Germany’s Nazi past from a young age, and had followed the academic and political debate about how to prosecute and punish Nazi criminals closely. One reason for her early interest, she admitted, was undoubtedly linked to her name: Meier-Göring had no family connection to Hermann Göring, the Nazi leader, but the fact that they shared a name had often prompted questions, especially when she was living and studying abroad. ‘My name is Göring, so from a very early age I concerned myself with the question of whether my family had anything to do with Hermann Göring. Thank God that wasn’t the case,’ she told me. Long before she became a judge, Meier-Göring had also reflected on broader questions of guilt and responsibility. ‘I thought a lot about collective guilt, and I also felt it. I could not say – like many people do – that this was only a matter of individual guilt. I always felt a part of German society, and as such felt a certain degree of guilt.’


Meier-Göring would face difficult moments over the course of the trial, and an exceedingly difficult decision at the end of it. But her skill at steering these complex hearings was never in doubt: she showed compassion and sensitivity towards the elderly survivors of Stutthof who came to testify in court, but also found a way to relate to the defendant himself. She kept Dey talking and remembering and, on rare occasions, pushed the defendant to question himself. At times, Meier-Göring would speak harshly to the accused, and there were moments when she exposed his evasions with cold, forensic scrutiny. But she seemed to understand that the trial – and the defendant – had to be approached with humanity, and a degree of humility. Dey looked up to her, in more ways than one.


For Meier-Göring, the case of Bruno Dey was the first involving Nazi-era crimes in her twenty years as a judge. Lars Mahnke, the prosecutor, had been investigating suspects like Dey for years but for him, too, this was the first opportunity to bring a case to court, and ultimately to a verdict. A soft-spoken Hamburg native, Mahnke told me had studied law in part due to a ‘deep-rooted sense of justice’, and in part inspired by American courtroom dramas. Before becoming a public prosecutor, he had served as a legal expert in the city’s building and planning authority but decided that a job in government administration was too boring. He had worked on the Dey case since 2016, and had spent long hours questioning the defendant about his past. His own interrogations, spanning eight intense sessions at the headquarters of the Hamburg police, had foreshadowed many of the debates that also proved decisive during the trial. Mahnke knew the case, and the man at the centre of the case, better than almost anyone in the courtroom. His familiarity with the horrors of Stutthof, too, was second to none. Covering two walls in his large but spartan corner office was a sprawling timeline detailing thousands of individually documented killings at the camp, broken down by method and year.


From the first moment of the trial, there was a striking gulf between the ordinariness of Dey’s biography and the magnitude of the alleged crime. This is not unusual in criminal trials, of course, even – or perhaps especially – in trials involving the Holocaust. In Dey’s case, however, the contrast between the man and the alleged deed felt especially stark. Facing the court in October 2019 was a frail old man in a wheelchair, who had lost the menace of youth, and arrived each day in court accompanied by a medical team that monitored him carefully throughout the proceedings. His voice was weak, his words often hard to understand. Dey seemed unthreatening, helpless even.


Among the people who sat with me in the press section of courtroom 200 on the opening day was a prominent visitor from Israel: Efraim Zuroff, the director of the Simon Wiesenthal Center in Jerusalem, who had spent long years researching the Holocaust and tracking down Nazi perpetrators. He did not mind being called a ‘Nazi hunter’, and on this day he had come to Hamburg to inspect a rare prey. When I asked Zuroff for his view on the Dey trial, he advised me to look beyond the frail old man sitting in the dock. ‘These are the last people on earth who deserve any sympathy. Because they had no sympathy for their victims, some of whom were even older than they are today,’ Zuroff told me in the lobby of the court building, where lawyers, journalists and observers mingled before and after the hearing. ‘You look at them and they are trying to look as sick and as out-of-it as possible. But don’t see an old frail person – think of someone who was in their physical prime, out there murdering innocent men, women and children.’ Zuroff, whose organisation has spent decades compiling lists of the most wanted Nazi criminals still at large, insisted that ‘the passage of time in no way diminishes the guilt of the killers’. Old age should not protect people who committed such crimes, he said, if only to help give victims and their families a chance of closure: ‘We owe it to the victims to try and bring these killers to justice.’


I nodded as he spoke to me. He was right, of course. This trial was about the victims as much as it was about the perpetrator. Dozens of Stutthof survivors and their descendants had formally joined the case for the prosecution, hoping that their stories and memories would finally be heard in the one place that really mattered: a court of law. Their testimony would provide some of the most poignant moments in the trial, made more powerful still by the knowledge that such voices would not be heard much longer.


It was Dey, however, who drew me to the trial. My hope was that he could help me understand the incomprehensible, or at least a facet of the incomprehensible. Why did the Holocaust happen? Since the end of the war, there had been no shortage of attempts to answer that question; they filled entire libraries and occupied the minds of legions of historians. The approaches and avenues they took were innumerable, and all started in different places. There were historical explanations, sociological explanations, political and military explanations, and psychological explanations. One school of thought argued that Hitler and leading Nazis had always intended to eliminate Europe’s Jews (and many millions more non-Jews in central and eastern Europe). Others believed the Nazi genocide came about in a more haphazard way, and only after an earlier plan to expel all Jews under German rule to the east failed as a result of German military defeat.


These debates interested me greatly but I had nothing to contribute to them. What I did have was a rare chance to hear and observe an old man, accused of helping murder thousands of people in a Nazi concentration camp, at the end of his life, with little left to lose and with an incentive, perhaps, to come clean after all those years. The charges brought by the prosecution alleged that Bruno Dey played a part – albeit a small part – in a great evil. If he was found guilty, his guilt would be minuscule in comparison to that of Hitler and the Nazi leadership. But Hitler and the Nazi leadership could not have made the Holocaust a reality if it had not been for the hundreds of thousands of Germans who helped. They compiled the deportation lists, shipped the poison gas, rolled out the barbed wire, steered the trains, cooked the executioners’ meals, kept the books and guarded the perimeters of Stutthof, Auschwitz and Treblinka. What made them say yes? Or more precisely: what stopped them from saying no?







CHAPTER TWO



The second disgrace


Stefan Waterkamp is an ascetic-looking man, tall and stick-thin, with close-cropped hair and long, gangly limbs. In court, Dey’s lawyer towered over his client, but he showed little inclination to dominate the proceedings. Over the course of the first weeks and months, he would remain silent for long stretches of the trial, intervening only to request short breaks for the defendant to rest and regain his strength. Waterkamp’s defence strategy – much like his manner – was quietly understated. Neither he nor his client seemed to desire an all-out legal battle. When he spoke, he spoke softly. When his client wanted to speak, he let him speak – even if Dey’s interventions were not always advantageous to his own defence. Waterkamp’s readiness to allow the trial to unfold, and for Dey’s story to be told in court, would be tested later on. On the opening day of the trial, however, he focused his argument on a simple question: why now?


His client, Waterkamp said, when he rose to make his first statement, simply could not understand why he found himself in court. Dey had never made a secret of his time in Stutthof. The police had investigated his role in 1975, and concluded there was no case. In 1982, he gave testimony about Stutthof as a witness in another criminal trial. Once again, no one seemed to think he had done anything wrong. The truth, Waterkamp said, was this: ‘For more than seventy years no one in Germany was interested in a simple guard who never committed any killings himself.’


His statement rang true – and it carried a double rebuke. The first rebuke seemed directed at Germany’s legal system today – at the court in Hamburg, at Mahnke, the prosecutor, and at the phalanx of black-robed lawyers who were there to support the prosecution on behalf of Stutthof victims and their descendants. The challenge Waterkamp threw at all of them was this: why prosecute and punish an old man who had only a few more years to live, more than seven decades after the alleged crime took place? Why seek the conviction of a defendant who was a nobody in the camp hierarchy, when so many of the men above him – including those who killed with their own hands, and those whose commands sent thousands to the gas chamber – escaped punishment?


The second rebuke, and perhaps the more resonant, pointed at an earlier generation of German prosecutors, judges and criminal lawyers, for their historic failure to bring Nazi perpetrators to justice. Indeed, it was not just ‘simple guards’ like Dey who never had to stand trial, but tens of thousands – maybe hundreds of thousands – of potential culprits who orchestrated, led, implemented and helped bring about the most terrible crime in human history.


For much of the post-war period, Nazi perpetrators had less to fear from the country’s prosecutors and judges than common thieves. Historians estimate that as many as a quarter of a million Germans were implicated in the Holocaust.1 Some of the worst offenders were dealt with by Allied courts between 1945 and 1949, most notably during the Nuremberg trials. Others were turned over to countries in eastern Europe; among them Rudolf Höss, the commandant of Auschwitz, who was convicted and hanged in Poland in 1947. The bulk of cases and culprits, however, were left to West Germany to prosecute. It failed miserably at the task: in total, West German prosecutors launched investigations into some 170,000 suspects in the years after 1945, but only 6,700 were found guilty and sentenced.2 The vast majority of those convicted – more than 5,100 – received prison sentences of less than two years, or were simply fined.3 Of the 6,000 SS men who served in Auschwitz and survived the war, only 800 were ever put on trial, most of them in front of Polish courts.4 Over the course of more than seven decades, German judges sentenced no more than fifty SS members who served in Auschwitz.5 The picture was little different for Stutthof, where some three thousand SS personnel did duty. Just seventy-eight of them were put on trial – most of them in Poland.6


That failure was all the more remarkable in the context of Germany’s broader approach towards historical memory. In the decades since the end of the war, Germany won admiration around the world for the way it faced up to its past, a collective struggle that gave rise to an entire new vocabulary of heavy German compound nouns: Vergangenheitsbewältigung, for example, meaning the process of coming to terms with the past. Or Erinnerungskultur, memory culture. Or Wiedergutmachung, which literally means ‘making good again’, but can also be translated as ‘reparation’. What ultimately flowed from this struggle was unflinching recognition of the terrible deeds done by Germans in Germany’s name between 1933 and 1945, and an unwavering commitment to keep alive the memory of the Holocaust, and to accept Germany’s sole and permanent responsibility for the murder of six million Jews.


For much of the recent past, these have not been controversial views to hold. Today, despite the persistent menace of the far right, mainstream German politicians and public figures know that to question the country’s guilt means banishment to the margins of society. In a very practical sense, that collective feeling of guilt and responsibility is almost impossible to ignore. The crimes of the Nazis are taught at school, referenced in political speeches and immortalised in monuments up and down the country. So complete is Germany’s commitment to Holocaust remembrance that even recent migrants – whose grandparents and parents were raised thousands of miles from the bloodlands of central and eastern Europe – are taught to embrace it. This expectation to internalise Germany’s special guilt and respon­sibility even extended to the latest generation of refugees, who arrived from Syria, Iraq and Afghanistan in their hundreds of thousands after 2015. One of the more peculiar political debates triggered by their arrival was whether to make a visit to the site of a former concentration camp compulsory for all recent migrants.7 While that did not happen, many refugees were indeed taken on tours of Dachau, Buchenwald and Oranienburg as part of their induction courses into life in Germany. Strange as it may sound, assuming German guilt seemed like an integral part of becoming German.


Perhaps the most striking symbol of Germany’s commitment to remember its crimes can be found right in the heart of Berlin, in a vast field of undulating concrete steles just south of the Brandenburg Gate. Here, within sight of the national parliament, reunified Germany built a memorial to its victims on a gargantuan scale. Extending across a site large enough to accommodate three football pitches, the 2,711 slabs of dark grey concrete are arranged in symmetrical rows but the uneven ground and differing height create a maze-like sense of displacement and unease. The fact that it occupies some of the most iconic real estate in the capital is reflective of the central space that the Holocaust occupies in the country’s collective conscience.


The Nazi genocide has defined modern, democratic Germany like no other event. It helps explain many of the country’s post-war idiosyncrasies. The staunch pacifism and intricate constitution, the aversion to flag-waving and patriotic rhetoric, and the deep mistrust of charismatic leadership – these and a thousand other habits, customs and conventions of modern Germany can be traced back to the Holocaust. The Federal Republic of Germany defined itself – had to define itself – against that stain. If there was any chance of national redemption after the murder of six million Jews (and the death of more than fifty million soldiers and civilians as a result of Hitler’s war of aggression), the new Germany would have to prove that it was different. That imperative helped foster a moral absolutism encapsulated in appeals like the one made by the philosopher Theodor W. Adorno, a towering figure in post-war intellectual life. Returning from US exile in 1949, he famously commanded his compatriots to forsake poetry. ‘To write a poem after Auschwitz is barbaric,’ he wrote in an essay.8 The appeal itself was universally ignored; the underlying message of penance and rupture was not. The Holocaust left Germany with two simple commandments: never forget, never repeat.


That moral rigour took time to find broad acceptance, and was in short supply in the years immediately after the war. In the courtroom, it remained an exception for almost the entire history of the Federal Republic. The low number of convictions after 1949, when Germany regained full sovereignty, tell one part of the story. For every perpetrator who was found guilty, thousands escaped without punishment. Yet even those who were brought to trial were often treated with unfathomable leniency, as prosecutors and judges went out of their way to minimise the guilt of the defendants.



[image: Image]



The site of Stutthof concentration camp today.


A case in point is the 1955 trial of Paul Werner Hoppe, the man in charge of Stutthof at the time when Dey served as a guard, and one of the few concentration camp commandants ever to face justice in a West German court. Born in Berlin in 1910, Hoppe joined the Nazi Party in June 1932 and became a member of the SS the following year. Committed and ambitious, he was selected for SS leadership training, went on to serve as an SS officer in the camps at Dachau and Lichtenburg, and married the daughter of the Lichtenburg camp commander in 1936. Hoppe was wounded during fighting on the Eastern Front in 1942 and appointed to oversee Stutthof the same year. Arrested by the British in 1946, he managed to escape to Switzerland before the authorities could hand him over to Poland (where he would have faced a certain death sentence). He returned to Germany in 1952, but was arrested again and put on trial in the city of Bochum, together with another SS man from Stutthof, Otto Karl Knott. The indictment charged Hoppe with overseeing the murder of hundreds of Jews in a railway car that had been converted into a gas chamber. Prosecutors also charged him for his involvement in the killing of camp prisoners through shots in the back of the neck and through injections of petrol into the heart. In truth, Hoppe was responsible for killing tens of thousands of inmates at Stutthof between 1942 and 1945. But the approach taken by prosecutors and judges at the time – and for many decades to follow – was to limit the number of victims for the purpose of building a solid criminal case, and to focus only on those killings that could be precisely and concretely attributed to the defendant. As it turned out, that was not the only problem when the court handed down its verdict on 16 December 1955. The judges ruled that both Hoppe, the commandant, and Knott, who had thrown the deadly Zyklon B pellets into the gas chamber with his own hands, had acted only as accessories to murder. In the court’s view, the two men were only ‘small figures’ in a larger system who had been ‘led astray and seduced’ by the Nazi leadership. Their wrongdoing had been ‘relatively minor when set against the immense guilt of those who were ultimately responsible’.9 The commandant of Stutthof, the man who had ordered and overseen the murder of tens of thousands of innocent men, women and children, was sentenced to just five years and three months in prison. Had he been convicted not as an accessory but as a perpetrator – even of just a single murder – he would have faced a mandatory sentence of a lifetime in prison. Knott was sentenced to three years and three months in prison.


The verdict was eventually overturned on appeal and Hoppe’s sentence lengthened to nine years. But the federal court of appeal did not call into question the key finding of the lower court – that Hoppe and Knott had acted only as helpers. The former commandant was released from prison in 1960 – just three years after the longer sentence was handed down – and went on to live a quiet life in Bochum until his death in 1974.


The leniency shown to Dey’s commanding officer was far from unusual. German courts proved to be especially reluctant to convict the so-called Schreibtischtäter, or ‘desk perpetrators’, the bureaucrats and officials whose murderous contribution to the Holocaust took place far from the camps but was crucial nonetheless. A good example of this is the case of Benno Martin, a senior SS officer and the chief of police in the city of Nuremberg from 1934 until the end of the war. As a prominent Nazi and veteran SS member, Martin was part of the select audience invited to listen to the notorious first Posen speech made by Heinrich Himmler, the head of the SS, in October 1943. This was the first known instance in which a Nazi leader spoke openly about the extermination of the Jewish people. Himmler went on to praise the SS men responsible for the mass murder in bizarre and chilling words: ‘Most of you here know what it means when 100 corpses lie next to each other, when there are 500 or when there are 1,000,’ he said. ‘To have endured this and at the same time to have remained decent – with exceptions due to human weaknesses – that is what has made us tough, and it is a glorious chapter that has not, and never will be, spoken of.’


Martin himself was responsible for the deportation of at least a thousand Jews from Nuremberg and the surrounding region of Franconia in November 1941. The city’s once-thriving Jewish community, which traced its roots back to the twelfth century, was all but wiped out under his command. Martin was arrested and interned after the war but despite repeated attempts by local prosecutors to bring his case to trial they failed to secure a conviction – not even as an accessory. In fact, the verdict handed down in 1953 by a court in Nuremberg praised Martin for his commitment to ‘upholding the rule of law and order in his area of responsibility’ and his efforts to ‘facilitate the situation of the Jewish population and protect them against attacks’.10 The judges went on to argue that ‘as far as the Jewish question was concerned, Dr [Martin] was of the opinion that this could only be addressed within the rule of law and while recognising the demand for humanity’.11 The court also noted approvingly that Martin had tried to ensure that ‘the Franconian Jews were spared humiliations, insults and mistreatment during the evacu­ation, and were dealt with in a correct, humane manner’.12 He was acquitted. The ruling reportedly sparked applause and jubilation among members of the public who had attended the trial.


The Nuremberg ruling is shocking for many reasons, not least for its unthinking embrace of Nazi terminology and thought. It refers to the ‘Jewish question’ as if the question – whether Jews should be allowed to live in Germany – was at any point legitimate. The term was pure Nazi propaganda and should have had no place in a courtroom in post-war democratic Germany. The same might be said of the word ‘evacuation’, which is nor­mally held to mean the transfer of people to a place of greater safety. In the jargon of the Nazi state, of course, it meant packing vast numbers of Jews in rail carriages and sending them to their death. Then there is the court’s reference to Martin’s ‘humanity’ in organising the practicalities of the deportation, suggesting that his culpability in driving Jews towards the gas chamber was somehow lessened by the fact that the first part of their journey took place without wanton cruelty and public humiliation.


For all their differences, the cases of Paul Werner Hoppe and Benno Martin highlighted several common features of Germany’s post-war approach towards prosecuting Nazi crimes. The first was a general tendency by courts to place most, if not all, of the blame on Hitler and a handful other senior Nazi leaders – and to treat the entire chain of command below either as mere aides, or as completely innocent. As one German law professor remarked sarcastically at the time: ‘One perpetrator and sixty million accessories, or: the German people, a people of accessories.’13


In many ways, this approach reflected the broader sentiment in Germany in the years after the war, when millions of ordinary citizens were suddenly faced with the challenge of justifying their own behaviour – and indeed their own crimes – under Nazi rule. For many, this meant casting themselves in the role of the seduced – gullible perhaps but ultimately innocent, too patriotic and too naive to see through Hitler’s lies. Alongside such personal myths sat the idea that certain groups – notably the officers and soldiers of the Wehrmacht, but also German bureaucrats, judges and lawyers – had only done their duty. Unlike the SS and Gestapo, for instance, these loyal servants had ‘stayed clean’. Indeed, the notion of the ‘clean Wehrmacht’ remained broadly intact until the mid-1990s, when a fiercely controversial exhibition documented the crimes of Germany’s armed forces during the Second World War – and their complicity in the Holocaust.


The only category of Nazi criminals that German courts seemed genuinely comfortable taking on were the violent brutes. Also known as ‘excess perpetrators’, these were the men (and women) who acted with such uncommon sadism and cruelty that they stood out even among the ranks of the SS. Hermine Braunsteiner, for example, was an especially feared guard at the Majdanek death camp, who met and married an American military officer after the war, and moved with him to the US. She was identified and eventually extradited to Germany only in 1973, and put on trial in the city of Düsseldorf. The court found her guilty of aiding the gassing of more than a hundred children at Majdanek. What stood out to those who followed her trial, however, was less her specific role at the camp than the tales of her excessive brutality: kicking prisoners with her steel-capped boots, for example, or seizing children by the hair and tossing them on trucks to take them to the gas chamber, and whipping women to death.14 Her nickname, according to survivors, was the ‘Stomping Mare’.


Another case of excessive brutality came to court in Bayreuth in 1957. This one concerned the SS officer Martin Sommer, who was sentenced to a lifetime in prison for the mistreatment and murder of inmates at the Buchenwald concentration camp. Known as the ‘Hangman of Buchenwald’, Sommer was described by the prosecution as the man responsible for ‘probably the most hideous group of sadistic atrocities unearthed since the war’.15 He beat and tortured his victims to death, killed inmates out of pure bloodlust and murdered a priest by dousing him with water and leaving him tied outside in the cold, where he froze to death overnight.16


In both cases, the courts undoubtedly arrived at the correct verdict (both Braunsteiner and Sommer would likely have faced the death sentence had their trials taken place before 1949). At the same time, it is hard to escape the conclusion that Germany’s post-war judiciary was missing the bigger picture. The uncomfortable truth is that the repugnant deeds of Braunsteiner and Sommer were not just excessive but also exceptional. The overwhelming majority of Holocaust victims did not die as a result of individual sadism or wanton acts of cruelty by camp guards. They died because of a murderous system that worked – and killed – regardless of whether or not the individuals involved were sadists or not, whether they had qualms about their role or not, whether they liked what they saw or not, whether they intended to be murderers or not.


More often than not, the men and women at the grim end of that murderous chain, the Braunsteiners and Sommers, were entirely replaceable. They had the opportunity to live out their sadistic impulses only because people more senior, more powerful and more intelligent than them had built a system that allowed them to. Yet those senior and powerful people often escaped with far lighter sentences – if they faced prosecution and trial at all. As Hans-Christian Jasch and Wolf Kaiser write in their book on the Holocaust in German courts: ‘The focus of the criminal prosecution in the Federal Republic was placed on sadistic intensive perpetrators who formed part of the camp personnel or the Kapos [prisoners turned guards] who collaborated with them. The mostly bourgeois and university-educated Schreibtischtäter, who were typically already well integrated into post-war society, were mostly let off the hook.’17


The quintessential Schreibtischtäter, of course, were the fifteen men who attended the Wannsee Conference, the notorious meeting on 20 January 1944 that was called to discuss and find a ‘final solution of the Jewish question’. A select group of top officials and officers that included Reinhard Heydrich, the head of the Nazi state security apparatus, as well as Adolf Eichmann, met in a palatial villa overlooking the Wannsee lake on the outskirts of Berlin. Though it lasted little more than ninety minutes, the conference was a landmark event in the history of the Holocaust – the moment when all the key branches of the Nazi state came together to discuss and co-ordinate the murder of European Jewry. The fact that those mass killings were already under way – notably in the form of the ‘Holocaust of bullets’ in occupied Russia – does not dim the significance of the event. According to the historian Peter Longerich, ‘the Wannsee Conference set a course that determined the when, the how and the where of the “final solution”. The destruction of the European Jews became a project that would no longer be completed to a large extent only after the war, but during the war’.18 The protocol itself remains a most disturbing document. Drafted by Eichmann, its fifteen pages oscillate between precision and evasion: precision when it came to defining the different graduations of Jewish ancestry that would decide over life and death; evasion when it came to spelling out the fate that awaited the millions of Jews now at Hitler’s mercy. The document spoke of ‘evacuation to the east’ and ‘elimination by natural causes’ before cautioning that the more resilient ‘remaining stock’ of the Jewish population would have to be ‘treated accordingly’. For all the verbal obfuscation, the meaning of those words was perfectly clear to the men present.


Aside from Eichmann and Heydrich, the conference was attended by high-ranking members of the justice, interior and foreign ministries, the police and SS, the party, and the authority charged with overseeing occupied Poland. The involvement of so many branches of the Nazi state and security apparatus was no coincidence. Heydrich wanted co-ordination but he also wanted complicity. No part of the Nazi hierarchy would be able to say that it did not know about the murderous plan. All would have their names on the key document. All would be guilty.


All were guilty. But not all of the fifteen participants paid a price. Five of the men who attended the Wannsee Conference died before the end of the war, while two were tried and executed in the immediate post-war years. Justice also caught up with Adolf Eichmann. The remaining seven, however, were either never charged, or escaped with minor punishment. Among them was Otto Hofmann, a powerful SS general and the head of the SS Race and Settlement Main Office. He was part of the Nazi old guard, having joined the party in 1923, a full decade before Hitler came to power. A fierce antisemite, Hofmann was considered an expert on the matter of ‘mixed-breed Jews’, whose mass sterilisation he argued for at Wannsee. Captured after the war, he was sentenced to twenty-five years in prison by an Allied court in 1948, but was pardoned and released just six years later. He lived a quiet life in south-western Germany until his death in 1982.


Gerhard Klopfer fared even better. Another high-ranking SS member, he attended the conference in his function as state secretary of the Nazi Party Chancellery. Klopfer briefly went into hiding after Germany’s defeat in 1945, but was captured by Allied forces and held in several internment camps before acting as a witness – and only as a witness – during the Nuremberg trials.19 No charges were ever brought against him. His only punishment came through the so-called ‘denazification’ procedure, which saw civilian tribunals review the records of millions of Germans after the war and classify them according to their degree of involvement in the Nazi state. Klopfer was deemed to be only minderbelastet, a lesser offender. Even though his role at the Wannsee Conference was known at the time, Klopfer’s only sanction was a fine of 2,000 Deutschmarks and a three-year probation period during which he was banned from high-profile professions.20 He eventually settled in the Swabian city of Ulm, opened a law firm, and lived out his life undisturbed, a respected member of the local community once again. At the time of his death in 1987 he was the oldest surviving participant of the Wannsee Conference. Not that you would have known from reading the family tribute in the local paper at the time, which declared simply that Klopfer had passed away ‘after a fulfilled life that served the wellbeing of all who were in his sphere of influence’.21


The reluctance to punish the greatest crime in human history can be partly explained by practical considerations. By 2019, defendants like Dey were few and far between, but in 1950 there were hundreds of thousands like him. Prosecuting each and every German implicated in the Holocaust would have stretched the country’s justice system to breaking point and beyond. It would almost certainly have made the mammoth task of establishing and securing democracy in post-war Germany harder than it already was. But there was also, with few exceptions, no real willingness to try: traumatised by war, the vast majority of Germans wanted to move on as quickly as possible. If there was guilt to apportion, they thought that it should fall on Hitler and the immediate Nazi leadership, not on the millions of ordinary Germans who had supported and served his regime for years. Far from accepting their own guilt and complicity in his rise, a large majority of Germans saw themselves as victims of the Nazi regime. Had their cities not been destroyed? Had they not lost fathers, brothers and sons in the war? Had millions of ethnic Germans not been driven from their ancestral lands in eastern Europe in retaliation for the conflict? Was Germany itself not divided and occupied by its enemies, with little prospect of regaining its sovereignty?


German civilians had indeed suffered greatly during the conflict, especially in the final year of the war. And they continued to suffer during the first months of occupation, when much of the country was still in ruins, food was scarce and the threat of reprisals and violence (and for millions of German women under occupation, rape) was ever present. Germans were in survival mode, and that meant psychological survival as well. This was no moment for introspection and reflection, and certainly not on matters as painful for Germans as their own responsibility for Hitler’s rise and the crimes that followed. According to Alexander and Margarete Mitscherlich, whose 1967 book The Inability to Mourn attempted to psychoanalyse post-war society, Germans’ emotional response to the Nazi period and the war was marked by denial and repression. The country looked back at the Hitler years – a source of shame and guilt – like the outbreak of ‘childhood infectious disease’, the couple wrote.22 ‘It is frightening to see such infantile exoneration techniques,’ they added, noting that Hitler’s crimes would not have been possible without the ‘enthusiastic support of the collective’. The Mitscherlichs concluded: ‘This attempt to gain control of the past must seem grotesque to the distant observer.’23
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